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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Sited at 201 South Main on a terrace between the Missouri River and the 
City of Leavenworth, the former Union Depot is a 200-foot-long, two- 
story masonry building. Built on a slope, the Romanesque Revival depot 
appears from the west to be a single-story structure, but the eastern 
facade reveals the true amplitude of the building. The foundation is of 
stone, and all decorative detailing of the brick structure is of sandstone.

The eastern facade is very imposing. The main block of the building, 
which is fifty feet wide, has a two-and-a-half story cross-gable which 
runs through to the west facade where it appears as a two-story projection. 
The north-south ridge line ends in gables that are trimmed with sandstone 
set in a stepped pattern but finished with a smooth raking cornice. The 
freight and baggage section which extends to the south is not so wide as 
the main section of the building, and the roof is hipped on the south 
end.

Originally the entire roof was covered with red slate, and the ridge 
roll was of copper, as were the gutters. Today the east and west slopes 
of the far northern portion of the roof have been covered with asphalt 
shingles, and there is no ridge roll on that portion of the roof. The 
rest of the roof maintains the original materials.

The main entrances on the east and west facades are distinguished by low, 
wide arches. The second story windows on the track side and the ground floor 
windows on the street side are finished with gauged brick arches outlined 
with a projecting brick molding. These windows are regularly disposed on 
both facades and are placed in pairs on the main section. The pattern of 
windows on the south portion of the building is different, their order 
being (from north to south) two single arched windows, one double arched 
window, one single arched window, a double arch, and two single.arches. The 
windows on the south end wall are also arched. The north end wall has been 
covered with a shed. These windows create a pleasantly varied arcade effect 
around three-fourths of the building.

On the eastern facade a stone lintel course defines the ground floor, 
and a stone string course runs just beneath the second story windows. 
This stone-work is continued around to the front where it runs the length 
of the southern portion of the building, stopping just to the south of 
the main entrance. A stone sill still remains on the first window to the 
north of the entrance.

There is a chimney in the south gable-end wall of the main section, and 
a massive exterior chimney trimmed with sandstone quoins, in the center 
of the north half of the west facade. This chimney is irregularly shaped 
and has a stone belt course which runs across it about two-thirds of the 
way up.



•m No. 10-300a 
sv. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET_________________ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE ]____________________

The cross gables on the east and west facades are highly decorated. Both 
gables are trimmed in the same manner as the north and south gables, with 
stepped sandstone. The corners are finished with sandstone quoins and 
have corbelled corner posts with foliated pendants and incised finials. The 
finial is missing from the north post on the east facade.

Inside, partitions have been put up to create office space, but original 
walls are still there. The two double iron staircases which led down to the 
boarding area are both still intact, although one has been floored over. 
Essentially, there have been no irreversible changes made to the original 
configuration of interior spaces.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The design, ornamentation, and quality of materials found in the old 
Leavenworth Union Depot are evidence of Leavenworth's position in the first 
rank of Kansas cities during the nineteenth century. Begun in the fall of 
1886 and completed in 1888, the construction of the Depot reaffirmed 
Leavenworth's aspirations as a center of transportation and commerce. Also, 
since the Romanesque features and massing of the building reflect the influence 
of the architect H. H. Richardson, whose work was widely imitated after 
his death in 1886, the Union Depot was a timely interpretation of an 
architectural style that became very popular for the next several years.

The old Leavenworth Union Depot is most imposing when viewed from the 
ground beside the tracks along the Missouri River. This was the perspective 
from which the building was viewed by passengers arriving in and departing 
from Leavenworth. The depot is sited on the first terrace above the Missouri 
River, very near the bluff formed by the second terrace. Leavenworth's main 
business district is west of the depot at a level with the second story. 
Passengers discharged at the first story, climbed broad iron stairs to the 
second floor and walked out onto the streets of the city.

William Jordy wrote in volume 3 of American Buildings and Their Architects 
"The eighties marked the penetration of H. H. Richardson's use of Romanesque 
motifs to the midwest from New England. . ." The Depot contains all of the 
elements of the popularized Richardsonian Romanesque style. The low, round 
arches, the ponderous masonry wall, and the contrasting colors were all 
characteristic of structures built in a Romanesque vein.

Chronology

A telegram sent to the Leavenworth Daily Times from Boston was published 
March 26, 1885, to announce the beginning of the Union Depot project. "A 
conference this morning between President Adams and General Manager Galloway 
resulted in an agreement to build a new depot at Leavenworth immediately, the 
Union Pacific railway deeming it important for the interests of their road. 
The Missouri Pacific is expected to join in the work* Leavenworth is to be 
congratulated." The Union Pacific initiated planning for the project, and 
the Times concluded later in an article September 1, 1886, that "it has been
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largely due to the tenacity that it has exhibited throughout that the other 
railroad companies effected arrangements to build a union depot."

Bids for the preparation of the site were accepted August 28, 1886. A 
few days later the Times reported that work was progressing rapidly. In 
its comment, the symbolic importance of the Depot was implied. Because 
of the construction, "the old part of the city is and will continue to assume 
its wanted busy appearance."

Although Leavenworth had been the largest and most developed city in 
Kansas during the Civil War and immediately thereafter, it had lost the 
competition with Kansas City for the location of a railroad bridge across 
the Missouri River in 1867. Leavenworth did not grow nearly so rapidly 
as Kansas City during the next twenty years. In a period of general prosperity 
during the late 1880's, however, Leavenworth was the scene of feverish land 
speculation. Residents dreamed that a new rise to prominence was possible. 
This time, instead of steamboats and wagon trains, lines of converging 
railroads were to be the basis of Leavenworth's economic growth.

A building committee of railroad officials with a representative of 
the Leavenworth community supervised the construction of the Union Depot. 
The Union Pacific, Chicago & Rock Island, Santa Fe, and Missouri Pacific 
Railroads were the principal companies involved. Adam Geiger had the 
contract for grading the site and furnishing labor. The Beatty Brothers 
of Wamego, Kansas, were awarded a masonry contract to prepare for laying 
the foundation. The site work represented an outlay of at least $25,000. 
James McGonigle of Leavenworth received the contract for the brick and 
stone superstructure. This was awarded September 29, 1886, by a committee 
consisting of A. Kimball (Chicago & Rock Island), Syl. T. Smith (Union 
Pacific), C. W. Smith (Santa Fe), and Len T. Smith from Leavenworth.

Later in November, the city voted to issue bonds for construction of 
the Leavenworth Northern & Southern Railroad. By the time the depot 
was built, the Leavenworth & Olathe Railroad was also organized. On New 
Year's Day, 1887, the Leavenworth Daily Times reviewed the past year: 
"several important matters have been consummated in which our city is 
deeply interested. We refer in particular to the securing of two competing 
lines of railroad to be completed and in operation in the near future. 
The new union depot will be completed this year..." A week later in an 
editorial entitled "Our Prospects" the newspaper boasted that "the Union 
Pacific roads are friendly to Leavenworth as shown by their firm stand 
taken in forcing the building of the Union Depot..."
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After the grading, excavating, and building of a massive retaining wall 
against the river bluff in 1886, no work on the depot was done during the 
winter. Work commenced again in March, 1887. The Times reported March 8, 
the debris is being cleared away prepatory to layincptFe foundation walls 

of the new depot. By April 23 the frames for the doors and windows of 
the first story were being put in position."

When the Leavenworth Standard discussed the new building March 3, 1887, 
the total cost of the project was estimated at $125,000. All four major 
railroad lines including the Missouri Pacific as well as the two new short 
lines were listed as participants in the depot company.

The Union Depot was essentially complete by January 1, 1888. "For the 
accommodation of several of the railroads a handsome new Union Depot has 
recently been built at a cost of $100,000. It is 200 feet long, fifty 
feet wide, two stories high with sheds on the east side extending over 
the different tracks. The first story contains waiting rooms, baggage 
rooms, express and ticket offices." In an earlier description, the 
Times reported that eight independent tracks would be laid, extending to 
the banks of the river, and "covered with iron roofs similar to the central 
depots at Kansas City and St. Louis."

Optimism in Leavenworth was high as the new year, 1888, began. The Times 
insisted that all railroads going west or southwest would be compelled to 
go through Leavenworth, "it being too large and important to be ignored." 
As an indication of prosperity, the newspaper reported, "All the railroads 
are doing a large business and the freight handled by the roads from Leavenworth 
the past year shows an increase of 25 percent over the previous year."

Although the Union Depot building was substantially complete by January 
1, 1888, it did not formally open until November. The delay was caused by 
the Missouri Pacfic Railroad Company's objections to the operating contract 
proposed by the Leavenworth Railway and Depot Company. When the Missouri 
Pacific refused to have the disagreement arbitrated by the state board of 
railroad commissioners, Len T. Smith, one of the depot company directors, 
announced that the depot would be opened November 1, 1888, "whether the 
Missouri Pacific goes in or not."

Despite the participation of lesser railroad companies, the Union 
Depot was primarily a facility planned and supported by the Union Pacific 
Company. The Depot was used as a station until 1963 when the property 
was sold to V. B. Greenamyre. Since that time most of the space in the 
building has been used by the Besel Mechanical Contracting Company as
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an office, shop, and warehouse. The Greenamyre real estate office is 
also located in the building.

THIS STATEMENT REFLECTS CURRENT KNOWLEDGE AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT,
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Maps of Leavenworth City (New York: Sanborn Map Company, 1924).
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Lots numbered one (1) through eleven (11) in block numbered two (2) 
and all of lot numbered one (1) in block numbered three (3), except 
the north one (1) foot thereof, and the vacated portion of Delaware 
Street lying between said blocks numbered two (2) and three (3), 
extending easterly from Main Street tote east line of said blocks two (2) 
and three (3) extended, all in "Leavenworth" (also known as Leavenworth 
City Proper and Leavenworth City original town) according to the map or 
plat of said "Leavenworth" on Record in the office of the Register of 
Deeds in and for said County of Leavenworth, Entitled "Plat of Leavenworth 
K. T." in Leavenworth County, State of Kansas.


